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SENATOR DEAN FLOREZ:  ...Rincon decision.  We’ll go ahead and begin that.  And for those members who want to stay, can stay.  We’ll wait for Mr. Yee.  Somewhere in the middle of that hearing, we will lift the calls for Senator Yee and then he can proceed on with his day.

SENATOR PAT WIGGINS:  So Senator Yee is going to show up eventually, hopefully?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  He always does, so I assume he will be here…

SENATOR WIGGINS:  Okay.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  …as soon as he’s completed with his bills.


Okay.  Okay.  Let’s go ahead and begin the informational portion of this hearing.  This is an informational hearing on the Rincon Decision and Its Impact on Other Tribal-State Gaming Compacts.


The purpose today is to discuss the lawsuit against the State of California, the United States District Court of the Southern District decision that had found that the state had negotiated in bad faith with the tribe.


The hearing will allow input from the public and the legislature to better ascertain a better understanding, if you will, of the legal underpinnings of the case and the court decision, the status of the decision, and the possible policy implications from the decision that may have on the state of California’s future and possibly prior, tribal-state gaming compacts.
To help frame the issues surrounding the Rincon decision, we’re going to hear from Paula Hart, acting director of the Department of Interior, Office of Indian Gaming and Management; Bo Mazzetti, vice-chairman of the Rincon Band of Mission Indians, as well as the tribe legal counsel, Mr. Scott Crowell, and Steven Hart; and Anthony Miranda, chairman of the California Nations Indian Gaming Association.

I can say for the record that the Governor’s Office and the Attorney General’s Office were invited to the hearing.  Both of those entities respectfully declined the committee’s invitation due to the ongoing legal case and, of course, we can appreciate their position.  However, in consideration of the legislature’s role of ratifying tribal-state gaming compacts, I believe it’s critical for us to get a better understanding of what is in terms of acceptable compact provisions.  Ultimately, it’s my belief that the state should proceed cautiously, and perhaps we should consider deferring altogether any compact negotiations until the Rincon decision is resolved by the courts.


I would like to thank all of our witnesses in advance.  Many of you traveled a good distance to be here, and I look forward to having your input.


Are there any questions or comments by members prior to the hearing?


Senator Battin.


SENATOR JIM BATTIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I believe that it’s a very important informational hearing that we’re having today.  I think the bottom line of the Rincon decision was that the federal courts said that the state of California should own up and honor its part of the 1999 compacts.  I have seen tribes throughout the state want to adjust them, or actually that’s not even right.  They want to get what’s there through the genesis behind my SB 1201 which you were a joint author of, and they were told by the administration that they had to basically completely reopen their negotiations and give much more to the state.  The bottom line is that Rincon and other tribes have lived up to their end of their compact and they were bold enough to take it to the federal courts to demand that the state of California does the same thing.  And if you read the judge’s decision, it’s real clear that he agreed with Rincon, and I would like to see it fixed and I would like—I’m very interested in hearing testimony today.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Any other comments by members?


Okay.  Let’s begin with Paula Hart, and thank you for being here, very much appreciate it.


I think what we are expecting to hear from you a bit today is a little bit of background, the provisions that may be included in compacts, the criteria for IGRA, for the state to negotiate with the tribe in good faith, the statutory criteria, if possible, and statutory remedy, if it is found that the state failed to negotiate in good faith to, in terms of completing the compact, so I want to thank you for being here, and why don’t we begin.


MS. PAULA HART:  Okay.  I want to thank you for inviting me.  I think it is the department’s position, communication is very important between the tribe, the state, and the federal government.  It is also the position of the department that IGRA only gives the department a very limited role in this process.  So we don’t get involved in the negotiations between the tribe and the state.  When we see a tribal-state compact, it’s when the tribe and the state have come to an agreement and submitted it for our review.

Upon submission, the secretary can only—can only—disapprove a compact if it violates the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, any other provision of federal law that does not relate to the jurisdiction over gaming on Indian lands, or the trust obligation of the United States.  In this case, what I’d like to get to first, because of the Rincon case, is the revenue-sharing provision because, whenever we see a revenue-sharing provision in a tribal-state compact, it sends up a red flag.  This is something that we really have to look at.  And the reason I say that is because our review begins with the Section 25 U.S.C., 2710(d)(4).  This section provides:  Nothing in this section shall be interpreted as conferring upon a state or any of its political subdivisions authority to impose a tax, fee, charge, or other assessment upon an Indian tribe to engage in Class III gaming activities.  The key term here is impose, impose a tax, fee, charge or other assessment.  As a result of that provision, the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act and the department have limited the circumstances in which Indian tribes can make direct payments to states for purposes other than to frame the costs of regulating Class III gaming.


The other thing that I’d like to point out right away is that all of these agreements are individual agreements that we look at between a tribe and a state—an individual tribe and individual state—so we get many, many compacts like here in California that could be identical, but we meet with the individual tribe and we talk to the state on that specific agreement.  So in order to determine whether the revenue-sharing provisions violate 25 U.S.C. 2710(d)(4) of the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, we look to whether the state has offered meaningful and significant concessions.

When I was writing this and I was thinking about coming here today, I thought, well, they’re going to say, What is meaningful and significant?  Because each tribe in each state has negotiations individual to that tribe, then we can’t come forward and say, okay, this is meaningful; this is significant.  It’s a negotiation between the tribe and the state.  So something that’s meaningful and significant to one tribe may not be meaningful and significant to the other.  What we look at is whether it is meaningful and significant.  Has the state conceded something that it otherwise was not required to negotiate that provided a benefit to the tribe?  So I think you have to remember that.  Is it something that they otherwise were not required to negotiate?  In other words, we examine whether the state has made meaningful and significant concessions in exchange for receiving revenue.


The second prong of our test analyzes whether concessions result in a substantial economic benefit conferred on the tribe.  The payment to the state must be appropriate in light of the value of the economic benefit conferred to the tribes.  Meaningful concessions by the state and substantial economic benefits to the tribe allows us to ascertain that revenue-sharing payments are the product of arm-length’s negotiations and not tantamount to the imposition of a tax, fee, charge, or other assessment prohibited under the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act.


I think the other thing that—I think the state and maybe even tribes have to realize is, we have a 45-day timeframe.  When the compact is submitted to our office, we have 45 days to review this document.  So we cannot get into in-depth, huge, large, legal analysis of these issues.  What we do, is upon submission, we do a cursory review of the document.  If there is a revenue-sharing provision, we immediately contact the tribe in the state and we say, we have this two-prong test.  You have to respond to see if you meet the test.  So we rely a lot on the parties to provide an economic analysis of whether or not they meet the test.

What is submitted within the 45 days will make the determination on whether or not the compact is approved, disapproved, and I’ve given you the three circumstances in which we can disapprove.  Or, because there is no consensus among the reviewers within the department, there may be a point that there is no action within the 45 days.  And under the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, if we cannot make a—there’s no action taken within the 45 days, then the compact is deemed approved to the extent that it’s legal.  And so what we are saying is, if there is a provision in here that we’re, you know, we may not have gotten justification, the economic analysis may not be supporting it, or internally we cannot agree, then that provision would lead to a deemed approved.

The other issue that I want to talk about here is what happened in California last year in September.  The Indian Gaming Regulatory Act says that it’s when the compacts are submitted to the department.  It does not say to the Bureau of Indian Affairs; it does not say to the Office of Indian Gaming; it does not say to the secretary.  It says to the department.  Upon our investigation, we found that the four compacts were delivered to the Office of Civil Rights which is within the Department of Interior but not within.  Actually, they didn’t even—that office—didn’t even realize what they had gotten, when they got it.


In that respect, what we have done in order so that this does not happen again, by week’s end, we should have a notice in the federal register of a proposed rule that will set in place the process that the tribes in the state will take in order to make sure that that does not happen again.  It gives an address of where it’s supposed to go; it tells you when the 45 days starts; it gives you definitions of terms that are going to be used throughout the compact; it tells you who can submit; when the compact is legally entered into.  We try to address all of the concerns that we had here in California.  So that proposed rule will be out, I would think, by the end of this week, and there is a comment period of 60 days.  And then we’ll review comments on the rule and then hopefully put out a final rule on the Tribal-State compact process.


Next, I’d like to talk to you of the breakdown of what happens, such as in the Rincon case, when the negotiations break down.  I’m not going to talk specifically about the Rincon case—I’ll let other people in the panel do that—but I do want to talk about another situation just so that you are aware what could happen at this point.  The same thing happened in Wyoming with the Northern Arapaho tribe.  The tribe in the state couldn’t come to an agreement.  There was a lawsuit.  The state was found to be in bad faith.  A mediator was appointed.  A mediator chose the tribe’s last best offer.  That last best offer then was appealed.  The process was appealed.  It was litigated.  The state would not agree with the mediator.  It was appealed.  It went up to the Circuit.


When we received that last best offer from the mediator, there was provisions that the tribe had agreed to, to give the state and the county, impact costs.  But this was an offer that the tribe had made to the state and the state litigated.  When we received the compact in our office, the last best offer from the mediator, we looked at the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, and we reviewed it.  If the state refused to regulate, they refused to negotiate, we didn’t feel that it was up to us to force the state to do any type of regulation, to any type of—what could we do?  We could not force the state to do anything.  So what we had to do is, we took the last best offer and we stripped it of any involvement of the state.  We then turned and we made the National Indian Gaming Commissioner the overseer of the regulation, of the operation.

Now we have said from the beginning that we encourage the voluntary negotiations between the tribe and the state.  But when it gets down that far into litigation and we realize that this is—we cannot force the state to work with the tribes and we can’t force the tribe to work with the state.  So what we did in that—and the counties were very upset; the counties were very upset because, along with all the regulation that the state refused to do, the county impact payments got stripped from the agreement.  So then the Circuit came back and said the tribe was right.  And not only did the limited scope of gaming that was being argued, they received a full-blown Class III gaming, so a full-blown casino.  The court said the state allowed everything, you know, in that case.  You know, that is the court ruling.  And when we had to turn around—and the last best offer only included the games that the tribe was arguing for; it didn’t include a full scope of gaming.  Once the Circuit ruled that the tribe was allowed the full scope of Class III gaming, then we included it.  So, you know, I think that is something.  I think, if you want to take a look—it’s the Northern Arapaho Tribe v. the State of Wyoming, I think that’s something this state should look to.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me ask a question about the mediator very quickly.

MS. HART:  Okay.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Does the mediator not pick the best compact at the end of the process, and how did it get kicked over to you folks?


MS. HART:  What happens in the process is the judge…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I thought the mediator was able to just pick.


MS. HART:  Right.  The judge picks a mediator.  The mediator selects one of two.  It’s not a matter of he can negotiate.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  No, I know that.


MS. HART:  At that point, it’s two compacts.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.


MS. HART:  He selects one, and it has to come to us for approval.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MS. HART:  When it comes to us for approval, it still has to, we still have to apply IGRA and we still have to make sure that it complies with IGRA, which is what we do.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is the mediator not aware, in terms of getting parties together, that meet the components of IGRA?


MS. HART:  Well, in this case, if the state would have signed off on it at that point, then I think then that would have been it.  But in this case, the state continued to sue and litigate the case.  So the Circuit Court ruled and it overruled what the mediator had selected to be the scope of gaming.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I understand.  Okay.  So it was another court that…


MS. HART:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So that went to you and then you ended up being—in essence, the state having to roll in this…


MS. HART:  Right.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  …and therefore the counties?


MS. HART:  That’s right.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And what would you say the outcome of that is?  Is that the worst-case scenario from a state or county perspective?


MS. HART:  Well, I think, from a state and county perspective, I think it was because the Circuit Court overruled.  Even the scope of gaming, the tribe didn’t even request the full-blown Class III gaming.

Senator Battin.


SENATOR BATTIN:  This has happened how many times?  Just once?


MS. HART:  We have—and actually, the Mashantucket Pequot in Connecticut.  It has happened there also.

SENATOR BATTIN:  And Connecticut had a breakdown with Pequot?


MS. HART:  Yes.


SENATOR BATTIN:  And then what happened then?


MS. HART:  And then what happened is, the state chose—I mean, the mediator chose—the state’s compact and then they signed off on it with a moratorium on specific issues, and I think what happened there was, they realized where they were going so they placed a moratorium on the games and then they signed—and then it came to us and we approved it as it was because the state wasn’t objecting to anything further.  They didn’t litigate it further.  At that point, we approved the compact that the mediator selected.


SENATOR BATTIN:  All right.  But that was kind of—the Wyoming decision was, when the state rejected the arbitration agreement; the Connecticut decision is that the arbitrator accepted the state and then they didn’t go any farther?


MS. HART:  Well, they still didn’t sign off on it but they negotiate—then at that point, they negotiated with the tribe.


SENATOR BATTIN:  And we’re in California; we’re at the point of Rincon, where the court said that the state acted in bad faith, said we need to go to arbitration.  Then the states appealed that so we’re still…


MS. HART:  Right.


SENATOR BATTIN:  …one step…

MS. HART:  We certainly will wait.  What we did when we were waiting, we waited for the—we want the judicial process to work its way through, so we tried to work along with that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Given the decision at this point and the two cases you’ve mentioned, what should the state of California be looking out for then?  What would you recommend?


MS. HART:  Well, like I said, I think that the state has to be aware of our two-prong test.  There has to be meaningful and substantial…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Concession?


MS. HART:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that meaningful concession…


MS. HART:  And it has to be specific to the tribe that you’re dealing with.  You can’t put all the tribes in one room and say, okay, what’s substantial to you is substantial to you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, how would that mesh with the governor’s current negotiation of a 25 percent template?  So in other words, every tribe that comes in gets the template applied to it.  I mean, how is that in any way, looking at a meaningful concession, individual to each tribe?


MS. HART:  Well, I think that is something that, even based on the Rincon case, I think that’s something you really have to take into consideration.  And I think the Rincon case, I think, really, really looked at what we were doing at the Department of Interior.  But I think I also need to say, that if a tribe comes in and argues that this is meaningful concession for them and that this is something, then it’s very hard for us to go behind them and say, oh, no, no, you don’t know what you’re talking about.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, why would a tribe not argue that, given that they want to begin gaming?  Why would they go to you and say, this is not a meaningful concession?


MS. HART:  That’s right, exactly.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I mean, it’s kind of, once they’re done…


MS. HART:  That’s right.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I mean, the governor is the all-end negotiator in this by saying, it’s either 25 percent or not, correct?


MS. HART:  Yes, and I think that’s a good question for the Rincon tribe.


SENATOR BATTIN:  I would suggest that they’re here today because…


MS. HART:  Right.


SENATOR BATTIN:  …they wouldn’t do that.


I have a question on the…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.


SENATOR BATTIN:  …exclusivity.  The argument, even in the, well, I guess in the ‘99 compacts which Rincon has, they’re paying with the SDF to offset the impacts.  They’re revenue sharing with the revenue sharing or SDF pays into that, the backfill, so they’re indirectly doing that?


I guess the argument always has been, well, the tribes have to pay this because they get exclusivity.  And then, as you were saying that, the question came to my mind, thinking, well, it’s not something that the state granted in the compact, was it?  It was something that’s in the state of California’s constitution.


MS. HART:  Right.  I think what happened in ’99—and I have been with the Office of Indian Gaming since 1993—in 1999, if you look at the revenue sharing, it goes to the SDF which is turned around and basically is limited to what it can be used for, so it’s not per se revenue sharing as you have now.  And even with the tribal, the money that goes into the tribal fund, I think there’s a distinction between the ’99 payments to the state and the payments to the state that you’re talking about now.


SENATOR BATTIN:  Is it that we have in the 99 agreement that saying if—does it justify for—is it a big concession, I guess is the right word I’m looking for—from the states and if we are saying in the compact that if the voters change their mind, if competition comes and they have their, they lose their exclusivity, that they then do not have to make their payments, is that significant?


MS. HART:  Well, I think originally, I think we’ve looked at that in Connecticut; I think we’ve looked at that in other states.


SENATOR BATTIN:  And maybe I’m wrong in this, but the whole way I look at the Rincon decision, we’re talking about a 1999 compact.  We’re not talking about anything else.  I know the administration would like to make it something else, but we’re dealing on the terms of the compact that Rincon has which was ’99.  So under that, it would be—is that then significant consideration if they don’t have to pay into the SDF because or, in their case, the RSTF, because they—if the exclusivity goes away?


MS. HART:  Well, first of all, I have to say that I’m not privy to the Rincon negotiations or what they’ve been offered or anything so I don’t know if…

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  ____.


MS. HART:  Okay.  I’ll let the attorney and then I can add…


SENATOR BATTIN:  Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me just ask a question.  Maybe for the members, getting back to the tests you’ve mentioned, the meaningful concession.  Is the meaning concession anything but the state offers exclusivity at this point?  I mean, isn’t that it at the end of the day, the fact that we offer exclusivity as the meaningful concession, and there’s nothing beyond that?


MS. HART:  That is what has been brought into our office and that we have approved.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  All right.


MS. HART:  I believe in ’98 the Louisiana tribes asked for—they would be willing to pay the tribe for 25- or 30-year compacts, and the assistant secretary at that time said, no, that would not be meaningful concession.


SENATOR BATTIN:  Increase in length of time of the compact…


MS. HART:  Yes.


SENATOR BATTIN:  …is not?


MS. HART:  That was in, I believe, in 1998.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.


MS. HART:  That was the position of the assistant secretary.



SENATOR FLOREZ:  So the only real give from the state, the only real meaningful concession, is exclusivity, period?


MS. HART:  But again, I’d like to say…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.


MS. HART:  if the tribe and the state come to us and they can justify something else, I think that would be…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  What would it be, beyond exclusivity?  What would be the something else?  I don’t see it.  What would the state offer?


(Inaudible Comments)
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Maybe you can answer that because I’m just trying to figure out what other meaningful concession there is from the state of California to even enter into these compacts.


MS. HART:  And that’s exactly why we don’t limit the tribes because there may be an instance, you know, that—I guess the other one that comes right off the top is an off-reservation gaming site.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.


MS. HART:  So there are instances, as gaming has evolved, that the circumstances that tribes find themselves in are now a lot different from, in 1988 when IGRA was passed and throughout the years, as we’ve been looking at these agreements, and what we look for is, you know if the tribe comes in and if they make an argument that they believe that this is to be something that is a meaningful concession, then that is something we would consider.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  But anything that the tribe says to you, by the time they get to you, is meaningful, right?  Because they’ve entered into something with the governor that…


MS. HART:  Right.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  …allows them to game.  And so off-reservation gaming, as a meaningful concession, could possibly be argued, correct, as a meaningful concession because a tribe that sought that and negotiated that and ended up where you’re at in essence could be passed, and that would be beyond exclusivity?

MS. HART:  Right.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  That’s interesting.  Okay.


Any other members have questions before we go onto Rincon?—and thank you for being here, by the way, appreciate it.


MR. BO MAZZETTI:  Thank you very much for the opportunity, to you and the committee.  I think we have to go back a little bit in history to kind of understand where we’re at, as far as assumptions.

1950 was considered the termination period for Indians when the United States wanted to terminate the responsibility…


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:   You probably should identify yourself.


MR. MAZZETTI:  Oh, excuse me.  I’m Bo Mazzetti, vice-chairman, Rincon Band of Luiseňo Indians.


The ‘50s was a termination period where the federal government wanted to terminate the responsibilities to tribes.  During this period, a bill was introduced, passed, and became known as Public Law 83280, Public Law 280 referred to.  What that bill did basically at the federal level was pass from the FBI, and that’s basically down to the state criminal jurisdiction.  It did not pass anything else.  It did not authorize taxation or anything else, just criminal coverage on Indian reservations.  As time passed on, the state and the county assumed they had regulatory and complete authorities—zoning authority, complete authority—over tribes.  That was never done.  That’s created the atmosphere that the state and the counties—not so much the counties any more because of various legal opinions but the state has authority over tribes.  You know, we’re equal to—we’re sovereign—equal to the state.  We’re not a political subdivision of the state.  We’ve got backed into a corner when we were pushed so far with the governor that we could do noting but fight.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go back, slow, through this, if we could.  And first of all, background information, where is the tribe located?  How many members do you have?  You’re operating under a ’99 compact.


MR. MAZZETTI:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Give us some base background for the members.

MR. MAZZETTI:  There are about 650 members that are approximately 48 miles north and east of San Diego and San Diego County.  We have roughly 4,500 acres of land, of reservation size.  In gaming, what it’s done for us, you know, less than ten years ago, we would have a waterline break, our domestic water system, and tie it up the way we fixed it because we didn’t have any income.  We would fix it up with baling wire and a rubber tube, stick it around there, okay.  What gaming was intended to do and what it has done for us is provided a source, a business—it’s a business—to generate some income to run our government.  We have the same responsibilities of any government—take care of our folks—provide water, sewer, trash service, which we do.  That’s what gaming was intended to do and that’s what it’s doing for us.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  So you have a casino in operation—that’s your business—and how many slot machines does your casino have?

MR. MAZZETTI:  Sixteen hundred.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sixteen hundred.  Okay.  And how many are you entitled to operate?

MR. MAZZETTI:  Under the ’99 compact, up to 2,000.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Maybe you can tell us, just from the beginning again, what was the purpose of the lawsuit?  What were you trying to accomplish?

MR. MAZZETTI:  Trying to get our additional 400 machines.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  This is before the Battin legislation, correct?

MR. MAZZETTI:  Correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And the legal case was begun when?

MR. MAZZETTI:  2004.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  2004.

MR. MAZZETTI:  2003, late 2003?

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  August of ____.

MR. MAZZETTI:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And what was the basis—I think we just went over it with interior folks in terms of the acting in good faith.  Was that the state not acting in good faith, the governor not acting in good faith?  I mean, from your perspective, what was the state obligation, from you vantage point, in terms of acting in good faith?  I mean, what does that really mean?

MR. MAZZETTI:  Let’s sit down and try to negotiate.  We kept getting put off.  We’ve arranged meetings.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What does put off mean?  Just no meetings?

MR. MAZZETTI:  No meetings.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Many calls?

MR. MAZZETTI:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Give us a little bit of that so that we have it for the record.

MR. MAZZETTI:  It’s well documented, and I’d like to turn that over to Scott in a minute.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Please.

MR. MAZZETTI:  We tried and tried.  We assumed as a counsel, tribal counsel, that they’re putting us off because they want to negotiate these other deals, say, the governor, for a higher percentage, which will then make it.  That’s the benchmark and that’s exactly what’s happened, so we had no choice.  This is a tax.  So we were able to, because of our business now, we were able to stand up and fight for our rights.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gotcha.  So going slowly through that, you’re saying that, in your view, the governor wasn’t negotiating in good faith, or wouldn’t one say that the governor was simply being a difficult negotiator?

MR. MAZZETTI:  I’d like to turn it over to legal counsel also.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.

MR. MAZZETTI:  From the beginning, as far as I’m concerned.

MR. SCOTT CROWELL:  My name is Scott Crowell.  It’s been my honor to represent the tribe since the early, the mid-1990s.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Scott, can you pull that a little closer?

MR. CROWELL:  Very good.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.

MR. CROWELL:  Let me try to put the lawsuit in context.  As Vice-Chairman Mazzetti said, you know, we’re signatory to the 1999 compact.  When it came to the winter and spring of 2003, we had two issues immediately in front of us.  One was that we were at 1,600 machines.  We would like to get to 2,000, and the state was insisting that there were no more licenses available in the statewide pool.  We triggered the dispute resolution provision under the compacts seeking a meet-and-confer session with the state over that matter.

Also, the 1999 compact—and I see Senator Battin and Senator Benson—and I apologize if there are others of you who were here at the time, but it really was a remarkable event.  But we didn’t know for sure whether the numbers that we agreed to would work.  So there was a specific provision in the compact, Section 4.3.3, that said the portion that talked about the numbers of machines and what the fees for those machines would be is subject to renegotiation if the tribe has a very specific, like 60- or 90-day period.  In February through March of 2003, formally requested the state to renegotiate that section and Rincon and several other tribes, but not all other compact tribes, triggered that provision.  We actually met with representatives of the Davis administration under the guise of trying to work those things out.  The Secretary of State then certified the recall petitions and the negotiations basically went stealth.  We notified the Schwarzenegger administration immediately upon election and again upon inauguration.  They acknowledged that we were at the table.  And then again, they went stealth.

During that period of time, we triggered again the meet-and-confer provision which actually requires the state to sit down with us within ten days rather than the state responding to us.  We were informed that they would not talk to us unless we, you know, removed our meet-and-confer request, and we were basically pushed to the sidelines while the governor worked out a new agreement with five other tribes.  We had no involvement whatsoever in those negotiations with those five tribes.

Finally, in the first week of June of 2004, the state said, okay, we’ll talk to you.  And now that we’re talking to you, we’re telling you that it is imminent that we’re going to enter into new agreements with these five tribes, that it’s going to be for an unlimited number of machines.  And for these large fees, we’re not interested in working out with you.  For how you can get to your 2000 machines, you can basically take the new deal that these five tribes have signed onto or leave.
We sat down with counsel; we took a close look at what those compacts were.  The position of the Rincon Band is that solving governments don’t tax other tribal sovereign governments, or other sovereign governments, and that this is in violation of IGRA’s prohibition against taxation that Paula Hart testified to earlier.  And so counsel directed us at that time to file a lawsuit against the state.  The crux of that lawsuit is that the state negotiated in bad faith by trying to impose a tax that we believe was an illegal and in violation of IGRA, and there were a lot of issues involved with this litigation but that’s been the crux of it, and Judge McCurine agreed, that the state is imposing a legal tax upon the tribe, that there’s not a meaningful concession, that the exclusivity that the state talks about is transparent and illusory.  The governor’s not in a position to give or take exclusivity to the tribes.  That’s in the state constitution.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  You’re going way too fast.

MR. CROWELL:  Sorry.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’d like every one of those, I’d like you to break down a bit, beginning with the last sentence on exclusivity and why that bright line isn’t as bright as the governor had portrayed it when negotiating with all of the tribes as the only concession the state could give in order to enter into compacts, demanding money in the first place.  I mean, this was a new era when Governor Schwarzenegger came in, correct?  This is a governor that ran a re-election campaign on the thought process that tribes are going to pay up; and so therefore, we all watched with interest as the governor was going to figure out the mechanism for that, passed the ’99 compacts.

Do you see the mechanisms being different in negotiations with the five tribes that he was negotiating with immediately as you were waiting to still get into the door?  I mean, what would you say the distinction was between the five tribes in the room versus yourselves still waiting to have the meeting?
MR. CROWELL:  Well, first, on that last specific question, we think, that as Paula Hart testified, you know, that the state has an obligation to negotiate with each individual tribe as an equal sovereign to the state.  Those five tribes have no lesser or greater authority to represent Rincon than Rincon has authority to represent those five tribes.  And so the fact that the state was negotiating with those five tribes did not excuse the state of its obligation to negotiate with Rincon.  The exclusivity that was provided for in 1999, you know, was discussed really at some length and what we refer to as a Coyote Valley litigation where, you know, in 1999 the state constitution prohibited machine gaming.  The state had no obligation whatsoever to negotiate for a machine-gaming compact with tribes.  The Coyote Valley court upheld the revenue-sharing provisions that existed in the 1999 tribes, in part because it was granting exclusivity and in part because those fees were earmarked towards legitimate purposes under IGRA, either mitigation of off-reservation impacts, to frame regulatory costs, or transferring payments from gaming tribes to non-gaming tribes.  The 1999 compacts did not have general discretionary dollars for the state to use for whatever purposes it sought fit.  There was a provision in the ’99 compact regarding use of the SDF that was this laundry list of uses.  And then in any other purpose decided by the legislature and the court in Coyote Valley, they made it clear that that’s to be interpreted that that still must be for something that is directly related to the impacts of tribal gaming.
When Governor Schwarzenegger came back with its offer to Rincon, it was for money to not be earmarked at all.  In fact, some of the earmarked funds in the 1999 compact, the governor actually wanted to eliminate that obligation as to money that in the first discussions is to even the money we we’re currently paying into the RSTF for non-gaming tribes and said, no, I want it to go in the General Fund and tribes.  You know, it’s none of your business how we’re going to spend that money.  We said, that’s a tax.

Then he also said, well, we’re providing you new exclusivity.  We said, well, Governor, you’re not in a position to provide exclusivity.  That exclusivity is set out in the constitution.  Once Proposition 1A became the law of the land of the state of California, only tribes are able under California constitutional law to engage in machine gaming.  So governor, you can’t offer it up and you can’t take it away.  And so your good-faith obligations are to negotiate those fees that Congress says are legitimate and not for these General Fund fees.  The governor came back and said, well, this is new and improved exclusivity because, one, we’re going to allow you to enjoin the expansion of non-Indian gaming, and we found that to be curious because the only way for that to happen is for there to be yet another constitutional amendment approved by the people of the state of California in a statewide election, and we think that the concept of a tribe through a contract with the governor to walk into a state court and have that court say we’re going to prevent the people of the state of California from exercising their right to amend their constitution is rather preposterous and it is of no value to us.  His third response is, well, we’re going to provide you geographic exclusivity.  You know, and Connecticut does it so why can’t we?

There are two tribal gaming operations in Connecticut.  There’s about 30 million people, you know, within a stone’s throw of those facilities—New York City, Boston, Providence.  There’s 107 tribes in the state of California.  In San Diego County alone, there are more tribes than any other county in the United States.  We’re in one of the more saturated gaming markets there is, and so we’re saying, geographic exclusivity doesn’t seem to make sense.  We’re competing, you know, with a dozen, you know, major tribal gaming operations.  In our immediate vicinity, there’s nothing here for us, Governor. And the governor said, you know, this is the template.  You can take it or leave it.  And we said, well, we’ll see you in court.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me ask you about the discussion about meaningful concession from the tribe’s point of view in terms of that particular meaning going forward.  Is there a roadmap or something that the state should look at, should follow, given your particular case?

MR. CROWELL:  We believe that Congress provided the roadmap and Congress provided specific ways in which there can be transfers from tribal gaming revenues to the state.  We put up an offer that we thought is perfectly consistent with that and believe it enhances it in terms of saying, whatever the mitigation costs are, you know, we believe it should go into a fund that, you know, the tribe works with San Diego County and locally impacted communities for the expenditures of those monies as opposed to going into the state General Fund.  They’re hypotheticals.  You know, if the state wanted to, you know, extend a spur of the interstate, you know, we’re 20 miles off of the interstate and you have to pass other tribal operations to get to Rincon.  They were going to extend a spur of the interstate directly out.  That’s the kind of meaningful concession that we think that might justify some type of large fees.  But promised exclusivity when it already exists in the Constitution, we didn’t believe qualified.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And what is the status of the case at this point in time?

MR. CROWELL:  The court has issued a final judgment that the state has acted in bad faith, has ordered the remedy under IGRA, which I think you identified quite clear.  It’s called a mediator but it’s really like baseball arbitration.  The mediator has to choose between one or the other.  The court has temporarily stayed that process.  The state has appealed to the 9th Circuit.  We are opposing the state’s efforts to stay the process pending the appeal.  We’ve had one hearing in front of Judge McCurine on it, and he’s asked for supplemental pleading regarding whether the state’s required to issue a bond in the event that the stay were to be granted, and we’ll have another hearing on June 27 with or without the stay.  Pending appeal, we’ll be seeking an expedited appeal, and we pointed out to the judge, that in both the Wyoming situation and the Connecticut situation, the court, the court denied the state’s motions for stays.  You know, that process, even though it’s supposed to be quick, takes a rather lengthy time, and we believe that the court of appeals will rule by the time the Department of Interior’s in a position to issue proceedings.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But the state did get a stay?


MR. CROWELL:  Very temporary stay.  It’s not a stay pending appeal but a stay pending the court’s consideration on whether it should extend it.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that’s the 27th?

MR. CROWELL:  Right.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.
MR. CROWELL:  If I can just, for purposes of being thorough…

SENATOR BATTIN:  And that’s in front of the same judge?

MR. CROWELL:  Correct, Judge McCurine.

Connecticut was an interesting situation because there—the whole purpose of the mediation is that during the 60 days, to try to get the two parties closer and closer to agreement; in Connecticut during that process, the parties got so close to an agreement that only the state of Connecticut submitted a last best offer to the mediator.  The Pequot tribe looked at it and said, well, that’s close enough; we can live with it.  But then the state of Connecticut refused to consent to its own submission to the mediator which is why there’s actually procedures today that govern the Pequot facility and not a compact.
MS. HART:  Scott, can I just interrupt you for a minute?  Also, I think—and I don’t know if you were going to talk about the Colville Tribe.  The Colville tribe did the same thing but with the mediator ended up opting out of the secretary procedures process and entered into a compact.  So although they went to the mediation, they concluded in the compact, opted out of secretarial procedures role, and submitted a compact.
MR. CROWELL:  And in two other cases, both in Lac du Flambeau tribe in Wisconsin and the Prescott Yavapai tribe in Arizona, the court issued the order of bad faith, appointed the mediator.  And during the mediation process, the tribe in the state actually reached an agreement so there was no further dispute once those agreements were met.  So the process has proven to work, and it only gets to the worst-case scenario, such as the Northern Arapaho, where the state stays defiant at every step of the way, and we would hope that the administration would heed the advice of the court to sit down and try to work this out.  But to date, they appeared to remain completely defiant in terms of trying to work with us or go forward with the 60-day negotiation process.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Any questions from members?

SENATOR BATTIN:  I do have a couple.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.

SENATOR BATTIN:  Mr. Crowell, you submitted to the committee myth and realities concerning the Rincon v. Schwarzenegger decision.  I was reading through it, and I just wanted to make sure I was clear.

On the second one, it says, Myth—a decision prohibits revenue sharing between the state and tribes.  And you write, Fact—the judge did not rule the revenue sharing as prohibited.  In fact, the judge recognized the revenue sharing is appropriate in the first three circumstances.  I’m going on the fact that Rincon is a 1999 compact tribe.  The first one, to enable the state to defray the costs of regulatory oversight in mitigation of impacts arising from tribal gaming, environmental public safety, et cetera, that’s the SDF, right?
MR. CROWELL:  That’s the SDF in the 1999 compact.  Our offer, which the judge also comments in the order, provides for additional money that would be earmarked for those purposes.  But instead of it going into the SDF, we propose that it go into basically an escrow fund where the city—making sure that it goes back to the local community where we would work out with San Diego County which is the jurisdiction that entirely surrounds the reservation, how to use those funds for further mitigation and improvements of infrastructure.

SENATOR BATTIN:  I’ll get back to that in just a second.  The second one is to assist small and non-gaming tribes.  That’s the revenue-sharing trust fund.

MR. CROWELL:  Correct.

SENATOR BATTIN:  That you fully pay into; all your machines pay into that fund.

MR. CROWELL:  We fully pay into it, and we point out, that if the state were to heed or honor the 1999 compact regarding an additional 400 devices to allow Rincon to get to 2000, that we would almost triple the contribution that we currently make into the RSTF.

SENATOR BATTIN:  The third is, when the state offers meaningful concessions to a tribe, i.e., in exchange for revenue sharing, tribe receives something of meaningful value, that is not otherwise entitled to obtain under IGRA, that one is the one we’ve been kind of discussing all throughout this in terms of what that is, where that is an extension.  That’s why I asked BIA about whether that’s an extension of the compact, the length.  Is that meaningful?  He told me that it wasn’t.

MS. HART:  Well, I said, in 1998, the assistant secretary ruled that it was not.  I think in any instance, a tribe can come forward and make that argument again.  I don’t think I can say right now that that is absolutely a no.
SENATOR BATTIN:  Okay.

MR. CROWELL:  If I could comment on that, though, because I think that the Louisiana example really does point out that it has to be something not otherwise entitled to obtain under IGRA.  Assume, for purposes of argument that everyone just sits tight with the 1999 compacts and they come to expiration in 2025, I believe it is.  What happens then?  Absent a change in the Federal Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, the state would still at that point in time be obligated to negotiating good faith with the tribe for a compact allowing for any gaming that is otherwise permitted gaming in the state of California.  And so to say, well, we’re offering you something, a meaningful concession, by extending it, we’re saying, no, because you would have to do it anyway.
SENATOR BATTIN:  And then to jump ahead on Number 5 under your fact sheet, you have, under the decision, the state is prohibited from negotiating for environmental and public health and safety provisions.  Your answer is more about what Rincon has done with San Diego County, and I would actually like you to expand on that because, as you know, with my bill, SB 1201, San Diego County came out in opposition to it saying that there was no, that there was no way for them to get any mitigation whatsoever.  And in your answer, you talked about Rincon being the very first one, tribe in San Diego, to reach out to the county and what you have done.  And so I want to give you the form to let us know if…

MR. CROWELL:  All right.  We were very frustrated with that letter.  The Rincon—the 1999 compact does provide that a tribe shall use best efforts to mitigate off-reservation impacts.  And on the basis of that obligation in, I believe, early 2000, San Diego—the Rincon trial was the first trial to sit down with San Diego County and say, let’s work out a mitigation agreement and actually work with them to formulate, you know, the formula they’ve used, primarily for transportation improvement.  So we were very surprised when that letter came out. 

You know, the new Schwarzenegger compact does provide for, revises Section 10 of the compact to where, instead of a tribe being required to use best efforts, the tribe must now actually enter into a mitigation agreement with the county.  And if they disagree, the first set of compacts said the tribe weighs its immunity for the county to file suit against the tribe.  And then the later set of Schwarzenegger amendments provided for it to go into binding arbitration. 

SENATOR BATTIN:  This is the ’04 compacts; and then the second set’s the ’07…
MR. CROWELL:  Right, correct.

SENATOR BATTIN:  …compacts?

MR. CROWELL:  And so when we see that letter, we’re frustrated because, one, I think we have a great track record of working with San Diego County.  Secondly, the tribe has a great track record of acting unilaterally.  There’s nothing in that agreement that requires us to improve police patrol; yet, we pay over $600,000 a year to county sheriffs voluntarily for something arguably they have an obligation to provide anyway.  We’re great neighbors.  The bulk of the tribe’s budget is spent on improving public health and safety.  We have a brand new law-and-order company where the largest contributor to the inter-tribal court to provide a fair and objective forum for resolving disputes.  So when we saw the letter of the county, and I think you probably have also now received a response that we sent to the county, you know, expressing our dismay—and we expect that they’re probably wholly unaware that our offer to the state says, you know, the money shouldn’t go into the General Fund for mitigation to be sent back to the county.  The money should go into a fund where the county has direct access and control over how it’s used, so we’re very frustrated.

We think this is a red herring that the state has created in this dispute because we have a clear record in the negotiations, a clear record by practice, and a clear record on the 1999 compact of working with a serious commitment to mitigate all off-reservation compacts.  And the offer that we put up says what we offer is the $4,350 per device for the next 400 and then $6,000 per device after that with a proviso that says, if that money is insufficient, then it will be more, whatever’s required, in order for the tribe to pay for its obligations to mitigate off-reservation impacts.  So frankly, we were shocked that the county sent that letter.

MR. MAZZETTI:  I would like to add something, please.  I have a little background in Transportation, and I specifically sat down with the county staff to develop the formula for our tribe, with the county.  They didn’t know where they were going with this when it was brand new, so we stepped up front to help develop the formula for the county in terms of traffic impact.  ____ first one.  Helping to working that close with the county, it is, like Scott said, disappointing for them to forget that effort and time we put in working together.  Same thing like Scott said, we don’t have to give it—it’s in excess of $600,000 a year to the County Sheriff’s Department.
SENATOR BATTIN:  I don’t want to get the hearing off track in terms of what the subject matter is.  It’s not about 1201, but I wanted to make sure that you had an opportunity to talk about what Rincon is doing for the county because, as a legislator that represents a lot of gaming tribes, and through that a lot of communities that are impacted by gaming tribes, it’s very concerning to me to see the real focus of the administration try to—the renegotiations of compacts or tribes like yours that want to go from, you know, under $2,000 or the $2,000 that you have in the ’99 compact, to take the money from the local communities and then yank it back up in the state.  I certainly understand his motivation that we have a very important or very significant budget deficit and that he’s trying to do everything he can to fix that, but I also understand the impacts that my local communities have as well.  And in a year where we’re getting—I’m telling my local governments to don’t expect much from the state and lock down everything that we can grab.

It’s also hard to say, well, I know, but you’re not getting the SDF money.  We can’t seem to get that, you know, down to you, seeing the discussion or hearing the discussion kind of behind the scenes in terms of what they want to do with the different funds.  I want to, just through this informational hearing and the decision that favored Rincon kind of makes it a lot clearer from what the judge is looking at in terms of what is acceptable in terms of the tribe to give in terms of mitigation and why, and I think he made that point very well today.


So Mr. Yee, Senator Yee.


SENATOR LELAND YEE:  I was wondering if we could lift the calls on the bills.


SENATOR EDWARD VINCENT:  I want to say a few things.  In this dealing with the tribes—and it’s also dealing with the horseracing industry which I’m very much involved in—I want you all to remember that in the ‘90s, in the middle ‘90s, the tribes had no machines, none.  Myself and Tony Cardenas, when I was in the Assembly, we did everything we could do.  I went to Morongo, Pechanga, and I saw all the bad shape that they were in, real bad shape.  I saw the kids with no schools to go to; I saw people with no clothes really to wear.  And matter of fact, Mr. Battin was down there at the time, a couple times I was down there.  I go back with the Indians from Cochise, okay?


So I do all this work to help you get the slot machines, help you get them, okay?  Now I’ll tell you where the horseracing industry is now.  The horseracing industry is going out of business.  It’s leaving this state.  We have in this state—or we have them now—the best jockeys, the best trainers, the best tracks in the world, the best weather, Hollywood, movie stars, and everything.  But you know what?  We’re losing all that, and I’ll tell you why and I think you know why.


We talk about what the tribes didn’t have.  Now we’re talking about what they do have.  You’ve spent millions, hundreds of millions of dollars, to see that the racetracks didn’t get slot machines, hundreds of millions—twice.  Now you talk about what you got to get the machines.  Don’t tell them what you got to keep them and make sure no one else have them.  And the tribes in essence are destroying, have already destroyed the whole horseracing industry, and twice—twice—is on the ballot again, hundreds of millions the tribes spent so that other places, and particularly just the three tracks I’ve mentioned, forget them.


I’ll give you an example.  I graduated from the University of Iowa.  In Iowa, they have a racetrack called Prairie Meadows.  Prairie Meadows was going out of business.  Go back to the University of Iowa, talked to them.  Prairie Meadows now have slot machines.  You know what happened?  Boom.  Mountaineer Racetrack in Chester, West Virginia.  It went out of business.  You’ve got slot machines.  Boom.

Let me give you an example.  In California, we had the best of everything as far as relating to the racing industry.  But what I just can’t understand is, since you guys are making all this money, why do you fight so hard to keep the racetracks—and I don’t mean all the casinos like the Hustler or Hollywood Park Casino even.  I mean, the five racetracks which I mentioned, which was Hollywood Park, Santa Anita, Los Alamitos, Bay Meadows, and Golden Gate—five race tracks--$500 million to stop it.


I’m going to tell you something.  I’m going to tell you something about the white man, ____ the black man, the red man—I’ll tell you about the white man.  Now you killed these tracks twice.  I’m going to tell you what’s going to happen.  When Hollywood Park closes, people sitting out there don’t know about this.  When Hollywood Park closes, which they’re going to close, people like that are going to say, What happened to Hollywood Park?  And then Santa Anita closes.  What happened to Santa Anita?  The Indians.  What the hell you mean, the Indians?  Indians what?  I don’t know.  We’ll give them the story.


Let me tell you something.  I’ve been involved in this stuff a long time.  I’ve gone to Las Vegas.  I’ve got a lot of friends there.  I’ve gone to the tracks; I’ve been to the tribes.  I’ve yet to see an Indian playing on a slot machine.  I get to see an Indian shooting craps, and I have a deep history with the Indians.  But I’m just saying, you know what I’m saying.  I’m just saying, you guys have done yourself a tremendous disfavor by what you’re doing in keeping those racetracks, those five I mentioned, from having these machines to continue the horseracing industry in California, and it’s the best there is.  And if you go to Del Mar, if you go to Santa Anita, if you go to Hollywood Park, they’re the three best racetracks in the world, in the world, but we’re going to lose it here and you guys should think about that.


SENATOR YEE:  Mr. Chair, can we lift the calls?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  Let’s lift the calls for Senator Yee real quick, if we could, please.


Secretary.


THE SECRETARY:  Item Number 3 represents the Consent Calendar.  It’s currently 9:0.

Absent Member Yee?


SENATOR YEE:  Aye.


THE SECRETARY:  Yee, aye.  That passes 10:0.


Item Number 5, AB 2004.  It’s currently 9:0.

*** Break in Hearing *** ??


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s—is there any other comments by members on this particular portion?  Okay.


Let me get to Mr. Miranda, if I could.  Thank you for being here, the California Nations Indian Gaming Association.


CNIGA’s position is that it supports the ruling; is that correct?  Or where are we in that?


MR. ANTHONY MIRANDA:  Correct.  My name is Anthony.  I’m the chairman of California Nations Indian Gaming Association.


I want to thank you, Chairman Florez and Committee Members, for the opportunity to provide testimony before your distinguished committee.  I want to thank you on behalf of the CNIGA member tribes for holding this hearing on an issue of significant importance to us.  As the chairman of an organization that represents federally recognized tribes, many of whom operate modest gaming operations, I believe that this decision is vital to the survival of the majority of the tribal gaming operations in the state of California.


The California Nations Indian Gaming Association believes that the recent federal court decision in the Rincon v. Schwarzenegger case was indeed a proper interpretation of the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act.


IGRA specifically prohibits direct taxation of tribes.  In any agreement where a tribe is able and agrees to give money to the General Fund, the state must make meaningful concession in turn.  The recent court decision made clear that exclusivity to operate Class III machines in California is not a concession from the state since that right to exclusivity was granted by the voters of California.


California is a diverse state and the original tribes that inhabit this state are no exception.  Each and every one of California’s 107 federally recognized tribes inhabits a unique geographic and cultural niche formed in lands as divergent from one another as a Mojave Desert is from the Redwood Empire.  From this vast land that we now call California, tribal groups formed unique cultures, a uniqueness that is carried on today with widely different tribal government organizations that reflect this inherent cultural and geographic uniqueness.


With such an array of tribes, cookie-cutter agreements are neither desirable nor reasonable.  Rather than push a one-size-fits-all approach to tribal-state gaming agreements, we would instead encourage the governor to sit down with tribes and negotiate individual gaming agreements that are appropriate from the circumstance of each representative tribe.

As an illustration of the diversity of circumstance present within CNIGA, tribes, such as Elk Valley and Smith River in Del Norte County, have a population base—if one takes into account the population of Del Norte County and populations in surrounding areas that could reasonably provide a regular customer base of around 50,000 people.  Compare this to tribes in Southern California with access to several million people in Los Angeles and San Diego metropolitan areas.  It thus makes sense that, for example, some tribes located in Southern California would be able to enter into agreements to pay significant revenue into the state’s General Fund.  However, it would prove impossible and would be wildly impractical for tribes located in much smaller geographical regions to sign identical agreements.

It should be made perfectly clear that tribal government gaming is just that—the province of tribal governments.  Unlike commercial, for-profit gaming interest, the revenues garnered from tribal government gaming establishments do not go to private pockets.  Rather, they help fund critical government functions, such as infrastructure, housing, and medical care for our tribal people  The cost of paving and maintaining a rural road alone can be in the millions of dollars.  This is but one expense faced by each and every tribal government in California.  Levying a singular fixed payment that each tribe must make to the state takes critical revenues away from tribal governments making it even more difficult to perform our most basic governmental functions.  Just as the state of California struggles with its budget, so do California tribal governments.


And I also want to go on record that CNIGA supports each tribe’s individual right to negotiate with the state of California and what they deem is proper within the negotiations with the state.  We do not get involved in individual tribal negotiations.


MR. MAZZETTI:  We would like to clarify that point too, that each tribal government, sovereign government, can negotiate.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Got it.  Rincon, when you argue in this case—just big picture and CNIGA’s here—but I mean, are you arguing this from your belief or everyone in terms of these negotiations, or is this just an individual tribe negotiation?


MR. MAZZETTI:  We have no authority right to speak for any other government.  Hopefully we could not speak for the state of Nevada or Arizona.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I understand.  But in terms of the principle, do you believe that the principle that the government is using should be revised in terms of all the compacts, or is this just an argument for yourselves?


MR. CROWELL:  The judge in Footnote 9 specifically, you know, commented on the difference between the question presented here where the state was demanding that the tribe pay the fees as opposed to the situation that Paula Hart, you know, talked about where, you know, the tribe, you know, at least as far as we know, you know, voluntarily was agreeing to provide money to the state.  We think in California’s market, you know, the initial five compacts, you know, it’s speculation as to how those came about.  But, you know, California has such a diverse tribal gaming market that it appears that those first five compacts could be motivated by trying to buy market share by preventing other tribes from being able to either expand or get into the gaming market.


We certainly believe that a tribe that’s similarly positioned, if they were to exercise their rights, would get a similar outcome, and we certainly believe that it’s wrong for the state to demand these fees upon Rincon, but we cannot speak for another tribe as to what it might do in a circumstance.  Nationally, as a tribal attorney that represents tribes in a number of states, we’re disturbed by the trend of states looking to solve their deficit problems by looking to tribal gaming revenue as the source of that and believe that that policy should be reversed.  But this case is specific to Rincon.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, okay.

Mr. Miranda, in terms of the position of CNIGA in terms of the compact, current compact negotiations, should those stop until the Rincon decision is resolved, from your vantage point?
MR. MIRANDA:  Well, I think—I cannot say that they should stop because each tribe is…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  …entitled to their own…

MR. MIRANDA:  ...negotiations on their own timeframe so we really can’t say that.  But I really do think that taking a look at this decision, you know, prudently looking at it from the state association—answer on that, you know, tribes should look at how this would actually turn out.  And I also believe that—you know Rincon probably won’t say this, but I think this has national implications in terms of a litmus test for governors to take a look at and apply it to their negotiations with tribes with individuals states and how they should proceed as well.  Okay.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Members, any questions, any other comments?
Thank you, Vice-Chair and Members.

Yes?

MS. HART:  Could I just…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, of course.

MS. HART:  I want to just make a clarification.  When you asked me what other thing would be of significance, and I said off-reservation, and this is something that’s all there.  There’s a two-part determination and there’s actual land taken into trust.  It’s an inherent federal function to take the land into trust, so that is not the piece that I’m talking about.  Okay.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.

Yes?
MR. CROWELL:  If we could also just qualify too, we want to make Senator Vincent, you know, aware that Rincon did not make any contribution to the opposition to the racetrack referendums.  We believe that the survival of the racetrack industry is something that should be considered.  We don’t know whether racesinos ?? are the answer to that but, you know, I think that the need to assist the racetrack industry is something that, you know, should remain on everyone’s agenda, including the tribe’s.


MR. MIRANDA:  Just a point on that as well.  CNIGA’s an association.  We have reached out to the racetracks, not only to the tracks of the Breeders Association, the Jockeys Associations, and we’ve reached out to them to try to work with them in terms on how we can work together with them.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.


SENATOR VINCENT:  My office is upstairs in 502.  I’ve been to the tribes; I’ve been to all the tracks, and not only just in California but throughout the United States.  And as I said before, we’ve got the best.  I’ve given packets to everybody in the legislature, what the racetracks mean to the state; I’ve given packets to what the horses have meant to the Indians, okay?  So what I’m saying is this—and you can put my word on this—if they close Hollywood Park, if they close it, people are going to say, What happened?  People aren’t going to see it.  Then they go to Del Mar or Santa Anita.  Well, then they’re going to say, the Indians.  The average person says, What do you mean the Indians?  What are you talking about?  Then you tell them the story.  Tony Cardenas ??, who was an assemblyman.  Now he’s a councilman in LA—he and I, when we were in the Assembly 12 years ago, you didn’t have slot machines before ’96.  We fought to get them for you.  And it’s a terrible thing for me to see—I’m leaving now—and all the help that we did for the tribes, for the tribes to not even consider trying to help to save the racing industry.  Matter of fact, the money that the tribes are making, they can go in and buy Hollywood Park themselves and keep racing going and make money, to be honest.  I’m just telling you, it’s going to backfire if those tracks close.  I’m just telling you how it goes.


I thank you for coming.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Senator Vincent.


I think, number one, thank you for coming.  We very much appreciate the input.  This is on the record.  We very much would like to continue the transcript of this, and any additional information you have would be much appreciated.


And I want to thank you for your time, Mr. Chairman and others, and I will adjourn this hearing.


MR. CROWELL:  Thank you very much.


MR. MIRANDA:  Thank you very much.
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